# 72227-1

. •

72227-1

No. 72227-1-I

## COURT OF APPEALS DIVISION I OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

### CAMILLE PALMER, an individual,

Appellant,

v.

# RAINBOW FACTORY SHOWROOM, LLC, a Washington Corporation,

Respondent.

### APPELLANT'S BRIEF

David A. Williams, WSBA #12010 Law Office of David A. Williams 9 Lake Bellevue Dr, Ste104 Bellevue, WA 98005 Email: <u>DAW@Bellevue-Law.com</u> Phone: 425-646-7767 Facsimile: 425-646-1011

Attorney for Appellant Camille Palmer



# ORIGINAL

#

#### **INTRODUCTION**

•

. .

Though it's seemingly obvious that people using a playground slide in the typical manner don't break their hand on the way down unless there's been negligence in the assembly or maintenance of the slide itself, the Court dismissed Plaintiff's lawsuit, holding that the doctrine of *res ipsa loquitor* did not apply.

On March 20<sup>th</sup>, 2010, the Appellant Camille Palmer ("Palmer") and her husband visited the Respondent Rainbow Factory Showrooms, L.L.C. ("Rainbow"), along with their daughter Jocelyn. They were shopping for a "slide" for Jocelyn to play on. Camille was pregnant.

With Jocelyn in her lap, Palmer slid down one of the "display slides". Her arms were on the respective "runners" at the side of the slide. No evidence in the record suggests that she did anything careless.

When she reached the bottom of the slide, she had a severely broken left hand.

#### ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR

The Court erred in dismissing Palmer's complaint on Summary Judgment.

The issue is whether Palmer may use res ipsa loquitor to

establish negligence.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The accident occurred March 20<sup>th</sup>, 2010. CP 1, 2. Palmer gave this

testimony:

۰.

. .

A. Okay. I was going down the slide. Moments before I reached the bottom, I could feel my hand---my left hand stuck, caught, still there. And then when I---by the time my feet had touched the bottom, my hand was behind me. And when I stood up to try to get out, it came out. I put my daughter . . . with my right hand, I put my daughter down, looked at my left hand, and my finger was laying over the rest of my hand.

CP 91.

Palmer unambiguously testified that her hands were in what should

have been a safe position as she went down the slide, saying:

Q. So we're going down the slide at this point. Where was your right hand?

A. On the side---the right side of the slide over the edge. I mean, I dont' know if "over the edge" is the right word. Just on the top edge of the slide.

Q. Right. So as you're going down the slide---let me ask it this way: Is your right hand creating friction with the side of the slide or is it kind of over the side in the air.

A. No, I would say it was on the slide.

Q. Okay.

A. Both---yeah.

Q. As you're going down the slide, where was your left hand?

A. The exact same place my right one was, on the top edge of the slide.

Q. Creating friction with the slide as opposed to being in the air?

A. Correct.

CP 36, 37.

. •

••

The slide was supported on the sides by "posts". Each was "bolted" to the plastic slide. The display slide was assembled sometime in February or March, 2010, weeks before the incident. CP 150. The "slide was supported by posts, which were connected by bolts; the assembly instruction indicate that the bolts should be regularly tightened. CP 149. The purpose of doing so is to prevent a "gap" between the post and the slide. CP 150.

Palmer had felt her hand "caught" on something at the bottom of the slide:

A. Okay. I was going down the slide moments before I reached the bottom, I could feel my hand... my left hand stuck, caught, still there and when I ... by the time my feet had touched the bottom, my had was behind me and when I stood up to try to get out, it came out.

CP 135.

Palmer sued Rainbow CP 1, 2.

٠.

. .

Rainbow moved for Summary Judgment. CP 20-59; 64-79. The Motion was granted. CP 172, 173. This appeal timely followed. CP 174, 177.

#### ARGUMENT

The Evidence Supports a Claim for Negligent Assembly Under the Doctrine of Res Ipsa Loquitur

In <u>Curtis v. Lein</u>, 169 Wn.2d 884, 239 P.3d 1078 (Wash. 2010), our Supreme Court revisited the time-honored doctrine of res ipsa loquitur. There, the plaintiff had been injured when a dock gave way. No specific "negligent" act on the part of the dock's owner was proven. Nonetheless the Court allowed the case to proceed on "res ipsa locquitur", making several salient points:

> "The doctrine of res ipsa loquitur spares the plaintiff the requirement of proving specific acts of negligence in cases where a plaintiff asserts that he or she suffered injury, the cause of which cannot be fully explained, and the injury is of a type that would not ordinarily result if the defendant were not negligent. In such cases the jury is permitted to infer negligence. The doctrine permits the inference of negligence on the basis that the evidence of the cause of the injury is practically accessible to the defendant but inaccessible to the injured person."

The Curtis court added at 169 Wn.2d 894:

A plaintiff claiming res ipsa loquitur is " not required to eliminate with certainty all other possible causes or inferences' in order for res ipsa loquitur to apply." *Pacheco*. 149 Wash.2d at 440-41. <u>69</u>

<u>P.3d 324</u> (quoting *Douglas v. Bussabarger*. 73 Wash.2d 476, 486, <u>438 P.2d 829</u> (1968) (quoting WILLIAM L. PROSSER, HANDBOOK OF THE LAW OF TORTS 222 (3d ed.1964))). Instead, " res ipsa loquitur is inapplicable where there is evidence that is *completely* explanatory of how an accident occurred and no other inference is possible that the injury occurred another way." *Id.* at 439-40, 69 P.3d 324. The rationale behind this rule lies in the fact that res ipsa loquitur provides an inference of negligence."

(emphasis added)

. •

. .

In Robison v. Cascade Hardwoods, Inc., 117 Wn.App. 552, 563,

72 P.3d 244 (Wash.App. Div. 2 2003), the Court of Appeals said:

"The doctrine of res ipsa loquitur spares the plaintiff the requirement of proving specific acts of negligence in cases where a plaintiff asserts that he or she suffered injury, the cause of which cannot be fully explained, and the injury is of a type that would not ordinarily result if the defendant were not negligent. In such cases the jury is permitted to infer negligence. The doctrine permits the inference of negligence on the basis that the evidence of the cause of the injury is practically accessible to the defendant but inaccessible to the injured person."

The Court went on to say:

"Stated another way, res ipsa loquitur is a rule of evidence that allows an inference of negligence from circumstantial evidence to prove a defendant's breach of duty where (1) the plaintiff is not in a position to explain the mechanism of injury, and (2) the defendant has control over the instrumentality and is in a superior position to control and to explain the cause of the injury. <u>Morner v. Union P.</u> <u>R.R.</u>, 31 Wash.2d 282, 291-92, 196 P.2d 744 (1948)."

In <u>Robison</u>, the Plaintiff was a logging truck driver who suffered severe electrical shock while using the defendant's apparatus to unload his truck. A somewhat lengthy quote of the Court's application of the facts and the law in his case may be in order: Robison's uncontroverted evidence indicates that he received "a severe electrical shock and electrical burns" while operating Cascade's electrically powered trailer loader, on Cascade's premises, on a very rainy day, when the ground beneath the trailer loader was saturated with water. Supp. CP at 553. Three medical experts concluded that electrical shock caused his severe injuries and medical symptoms, all of which he did not begin experiencing until after regaining consciousness at Cascade.

. •

. .

At this point, Cascade does not deny that Robison suffered an electrical shock; it strictly contends that it is speculative and inconclusive to say that the source or cause of the electric shock came from stray electricity from Cascade's equipment. Without producing any affirmative evidence, Cascade argues that Robison cannot prove that his shock did not come from lightning or his own truck.

Taken in the light most favorable to Robison, the record belies Cascade's claims: There is no evidence of any lightning on this rainy day in late winter/early spring, and the electrical evidence suggests that a 12-volt battery could not have caused Robison's severe burns. The record shows that Robison's severe internal burns and injuries, without visible

Thus was summary judgment dismissing the case reversed. The Court will note that there was <u>no evidence</u> pertaining to any exact issue with the "trailer loader", only that the Plaintiff suffered severe shock while using it.

Here, the Plaintiff's testimony---which must be taken as true in the light most favorable to her—is that she was using the slide in a perfectly safe manner, but severely injured her hand. There is no evidence to the contrary, and no other conceivable explanation offered for her injury.

Furthermore, Plaintiff has evidence to concretely support a plausible theory of injury---one that Defendants admit must be guarded against! If the bolts holding the support posts to the slide were improperly assembled, or had loosened, a "gap" would exist, in which Camille's hand would have been "caught".

#### CONCLUSION

Palmer deserves a jury trial.