C. ARGUMENT

The Doctrine of Res Ipsa Loquitur Does Not Apply Because the Slide Remained Accessible to Palmer and Palmer Has No Direct or Circumstantial Evidence of Negligent Assembly.

The doctrine of *res ipsa loquitur* is "ordinarily sparingly applied, "in peculiar and exceptional cases, and only where the facts and the demands of justice make its application essential." *Tinder v. Nordstrom, Inc.*, 84 Wn. App. 787, 792, 929 P.2d 1209, 1212 (1997) (quoting *Morner v. Union Pac. R.R.*, 31 Wn.2d 282, 293, 196 P.2d 744, 750 (1948)). "The doctrine permits the inference of negligence on the basis that the evidence

of the cause of the injury is practically accessible to the defendant but inaccessible to the injured person." *Pacheco v. Ames*, 149 Wn.2d 431, 436, 69 P.3d 324, 326 (2003). "Stated another way, *res ipsa loquitur* is a rule of evidence that allows an inference of negligence from circumstantial evidence to prove a defendant's breach of duty where (1) the plaintiff is not in a position to explain the mechanism of injury, and (2) the defendant has control over the instrumentality and is in a superior position to control and to explain the cause of injury." *Robison v. Cascade Hardwoods, Inc.* 117 Wn. App. 552, 563, 72 P.3d 244, 250 (Div. 2 2003). The trial judge properly ruled that *res ipsa loquitur* was inapplicable.

The slide remained accessible to Palmer.

Palmer relies on *Curtis v. Lein*, 169 Wn. 2d 884, 239 P.3d 1078 (2010) to support her argument that the evidence before the trial court supported a claim for negligent assembly under the doctrine of *res ipsa loquitur*. Appellant's Brief at 4-5. *Curtis* is distinguishable because here, the slide remained accessible to Palmer.

In *Curtis*, plaintiff was injured when a dock on which she was walking gave way beneath her. *Curtis*, 169 Wn. 2d at 888, 239 P.3d at 1080. There was no evidence as to the dock's condition at the time of the accident because the defendants destroyed the dock shortly after the

accident. *Id.*, 169 at 888-89, 239 P.3d at 1080. Here, unlike *Curtis*, the slide remained intact and accessible to Palmer. In fact, days after the accident, Palmer and her mother returned to Rainbow Factory Showroom and they viewed and photographed slides. The slide remained available for testing and expert review.

b. Palmer has no evidence of negligent assembly.

Palmer relies on *Robison v. Cascade Hardwoods, Inc.*, and argues that, like the plaintiff in that case, she has evidence of a "plausible theory of injury" such that the doctrine of *res ipsa loquitur* should apply. Appellant's Brief at 5-7. *Robison* is distinguishable because here, Palmer has no circumstantial evidence of negligent assembly.

In *Robison*, plaintiff Todd Robison was electrocuted while operating a loader at defendant Cascade's lumber mill. *Robison*, 117 Wn. App. at 555, 72 P.3d at 247. Robison claimed that he pressed the loader's controller button, heard a loud bang, and was then rendered unconscious for a minute and a half. *Id.*, 117 Wn. App. at 557, 72 P.3d at 247. Before Robison's accident, other workers reported "tingles" and "buzzes" while operating the loader. *Id.*, 117 Wn. App. at 559, 72 P.3d at 248. Robison retained an expert who eliminated other potential causes of the electrical shock, but could not opine with certainty as to the origin of

Robison's electrical shock. *Id.*, 117 Wn. App. at 559, 72 P.3d at 248. The *Robison* court reversed the order granting summary judgment because the reports from prior workers and expert testimony made a "defective electrical system a reasonably probable cause for Robison's injuries." *Id.*, 117 Wn. App. at at 570, 72 P.3d at 254.

Here, unlike Robison, Palmer has no circumstantial evidence from which an inference of negligence can be drawn under the *res ipsa loquitur* doctrine. She has no expert opinion supporting her allegations of negligent assembly or defective design. Just as she argued to the Court below, Palmer argues to this Court a loose-bolt negligent assembly theory. Appellant's Brief at 7. However, Palmer has no evidence of loose bolts. The photographs taken by her mother do not show loose bolts. She has no evidence that any person has ever been injured at a Rainbow Factory Showroom or reported that bolts were loose on any play structure. Because Palmer has no circumstantial evidence of negligent assembly, the doctrine of *res ipsa loquitur* does not apply.

c. The trial Court correctly dismissed Palmer's claims.

Unlike *Curtis* and *Robison*, this case is an ordinary negligence case where an injured person can immediately look over the product which she claims caused her injury, ascertain whether there was any protrusion, gap,

or loose bolt to explain her injury, take photos to document it, and retain an expert to inspect and opine. Palmer inspected the slide and took photos, but she admits she is not sure how she hurt her hand. She produced no expert opinion in opposition to the motion for summary judgment. She guesses that her injury must somehow be Rainbow Factory Showroom's fault, but guessing is not enough to withstand the summary judgment requirement that Palmer proffer evidence of her claims. If Palmer's argument were accepted, then anyone injured on a Washington playground claiming negligent assembly would be entitled to a jury trial regardless of the underlying facts. Taken to its logical conclusion, this argument would eliminate the summary judgment standard for all defendants sued for personal injury.

Palmer wants the Court to apply this doctrine because she has no evidence of negligence, but the doctrine is not a substitute for a plaintiff's burden of proof. If it were, every plaintiff unable to prove negligence could simply rely on *res ipsa loquitur* to avoid summary judgment.

D. CONCLUSION

The Order granting summary judgment should be affirmed.